Supreme Court of California Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court Electronically RECEIVED on 2/18/2020 on 4:28:57 PM Supreme Court of California Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court Electronically FILED on 2/18/2020 by Tao Zhang, Deputy Clerk

\$260736 S

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

## VERA SEROVA, Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

# SONY MUSIC ENTERTAINMENT; JOHN BRANCA, AS CO-EXECUTOR OF THE ESTATE OF MICHAEL J. JACKSON; AND MJJ PRODUCTIONS, INC Defendant and Appellant.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT CASE NO. B280526

# **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

#### I. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- Do representations about a creative product made by its seller on the product packaging and in advertisements during an ongoing controversy constitute speech in connection with an issue of public interest within the meaning of the anti-SLAPP statute?
- 2. Is the seller insulated from liability for misrepresentations under the UCL and CLRA if he lacked personal knowledge that his representations were false?

#### II. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

This case, following remand directing the Court of Appeal (COA) to reevaluate its decision in light of *FilmOn.com Inc. v. DoubleVerify Inc.* (2019) 7 Cal.5th 133 (*FilmOn*), is on its second trip to this Court. The petition arises from the failure of the COA to heed the lessons of *FilmOn* and properly apply anti-SLAPP precedent in the context of product labeling and advertising. The initial petition for review that this Court granted laid out an illustrative hypothetical that succinctly crystalizes the problems created by the COA's decision. It is worth restating here.

Imagine a teenager who walks into a record store and sees what he believes is the perfect gift for his mom (who already owns three Michael Jackson albums): an album whose cover shows images of Michael Jackson's face next to the word "Michael" and on the flip side states, "This album contains 9 previously unreleased vocal tracks performed by Michael Jackson." He buys the album. At the time, the teenager is not aware that three of the album songs are sung by an impersonator, or that there is any controversy as to whether Jackson actually sang the vocals on all of the album's songs.

While the teenager is in the record store, his mom is at a supermarket buying peaches labelled "organic." Mom does not know that there is a dispute between the peach wholesaler and a consumer watchdog agency over the labeling of these peaches as "organic." However, mom wants to buy organic produce, and she is led to believe by the label that the peaches are organic. In actuality, someone in the supply chain affixed "organic" labels to peaches that were not grown organically.

When it is uncovered that three of the album songs were not sung by Jackson and the peaches were not organic, the teenager and his mother should be able to bring suits against the music distributor and the supermarket respectively because, as consumers protected by the CLRA, as far as they were concerned, the statements on the album cover and peaches were false facts.

According to settled law in California, mom and son should be able to pursue their claims. Under the express provisions of the CLRA and unfair competition law, the music distributor and the supermarket are liable for their misrepresentations to consumers who bought their goods irrespective of what the sellers knew at the time they made the false statements, or any controversies about the representations on the products sold. Under the COA's ruling in this case, however, settled law becomes unsettled, and both mom and son are without a remedy against the sellers who get to keep their ill-gotten gains.

Moreover, although for mom and son these misrepresentations are equally misleading and damaging, the son, if he files an action like Petitioner herein, in addition to absorbing the damage, will have to reimburse the music distributor's attorney fees for having the temerity to petition the court for redress. The anti-SLAPP statute will make the teenager pay because, under the COA's published precedent, the music distributor's false advertising "contributed" to the public debate the teenager had no idea existed, and the suit infringes on the music distributor's right to "shape" mom's experience of the fake songs by misattributing them to Jackson.

150 years ago, the California Legislature declared, "For every wrong there is a remedy." (Cal. Civ. Code § 3523.) In this matter, the COA tramples on this doctrine and deprives consumers of the remedy for merchants' deceit enshrined in California's consumer protection laws. The decision punishes the consumers with having to pay the merchant's attorney fees if they so much as *attempt* to seek a remedy—thus, effectively suppressing their basic constitutional right to petition the government for redress of grievances. (U.S. Const. amend. I; Cal. Const. art. I, § 3(a).) It is ironic that the COA's decision, while claiming to be vindicating the First Amendment, in actuality sets a precedent that chills Californians' First Amendment right.

#### III. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL POSTURE

This case is a putative consumer class action about what purports to be an album of Michael Jackson's recordings titled *Michael*, released by Sony Music Entertainment, the estate of

Michael Jackson and MJJ Productions, Inc. (collectively, the Sony Defendants) after Jackson's death.

For purposes of this appeal, the alleged facts are undisputed. Since *Michael's* inception, the authenticity of three recordings on the album (known as the Cascio recordings) has been controversial. The Sony Defendants purchased the Cascio recordings from individuals Edward Cascio and James Porte (also defendants in this suit, but not parties to this appeal), who told the Sony Defendants that Jackson sang on these recordings prior to his death. (Slip Op. 7.) The Sony Defendants subsequently announced their decision to release the Cascio recordings on the *Michael* album. When Jackson's family and fans heard the recordings, a controversy ensued, with multiple members of the family and a number of fans stating publicly and to the Sony Defendants that the singer on the Cascio recordings was not Jackson. (Slip Op. 8.) In response to the controversy, attorney Howard Weitzman issued a statement on behalf of the Sony Defendants to Jackson fan clubs claiming that the Sony Defendants had conducted an internal investigation, which led them to conclude the vocals on the Cascio recordings belonged to Jackson. (*Ibid.*)

The Sony Defendants released the *Michael* album containing 10 songs—the three Cascio recordings and seven undisputed Jackson recordings—and marketed it as an album by Michael Jackson. (Slip Op. 8–9.)

Plaintiff and Petitioner Vera Serova alleges that Jackson did not sing on the Cascio recordings and that the Sony Defendants violated the Unfair Competition Law (UCL; Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 et seq.) and the Consumers Legal Remedies Act (CLRA; Civ. Code § 1750 et seq.) by advertising *Michael* as an album of Jackson songs on its cover and in a video commercial. (Slip Op. 2.) The complaint alleges that the following representations were false or misleading in light of the allegation that Jackson does not sing on the three Cascio recordings included on the album:

(1) The album cover containing the album name "Michael," multiple depictions of Michael Jackson, and a statement on the back of the cover:

"This album contains 9 previously unreleased vocal tracks performed by Michael Jackson"<sup>1</sup>; and (2) The video commercial in which the narrator presents *Michael* as "a brand-new album from the greatest artist of all time."

Neither the album cover nor the video commercial disclosed to album buyers that the identity of the singer on three of the album tracks was uncertain or controversial at the time of the album release.

In response to the complaint, the Sony Defendants filed an anti-SLAPP motion under California Code of Civil Procedure Section 425.16 (the anti-SLAPP statute), arguing that their statements on the album cover and in the video commercial constituted speech in connection with an issue of public interest protected by the anti-SLAPP statute, and Serova could not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The tenth song on the album was previously released in 2004.

prevail on her UCL and CLRA claims because the statements were noncommercial speech not actionable under these statutes, or, alternatively, not misleading as a matter of law even if Jackson did not sing on the Cascio recordings. (Slip Op. 9–10.) The Sony Defendants stipulated for purposes of the anti-SLAPP litigation that Jackson did not sing on the Cascio recordings (i.e. they were forgeries) (Slip Op. 10) and waived Serova's burden to present prima facie evidence in support of her case. Thus, the scope of the anti-SLAPP motion was limited to three legal issues:

- Whether the Sony Defendants' statements were speech in connection with an issue of public interest within the meaning of the anti-SLAPP statute;
- (2) Whether the Sony Defendants' statements were actionable as commercial speech under the UCL and CLRA; and
- (3) Whether the Sony Defendants' statements could mislead a reasonable consumer if the Cascio recordings were forgeries not containing Jackson's vocals.

The trial court found the statements at issue met the definition of speech in connection with an issue of public interest under the first prong of the anti-SLAPP analysis but that Serova could prevail on her claims based on the statements at issue because they were commercial and therefore actionable under the UCL and CLRA and were likely to mislead a reasonable consumer. (Slip Op. 9–10.)

The COA affirmed the trial court's ruling on the first prong, citing Jackson's celebrity and the public's interest in the album and the controversy surrounding it as relevant public issues, and reversed the second part of the ruling, holding that the statements on the album cover and in the video commercial were noncommercial speech under *Kasky* because the content of the statements was noncommercial under the third prong of the *Kasky* test. The COA concluded, in a radical departure from precedent, that the third element of *Kasky*, focusing on the content of the message, required for liability that the speaker have personal knowledge of the facts he spoke about.

Because the Sony Defendants' selling efforts related in part to a publicly disputed issue of which they lacked personal knowledge (which, in the COA's view, made their advertisements an opinion), and their statements were "integral to the artistic significance of the songs themselves," the COA concluded the Sony Defendants' statements were not commercial in character. (Slip Op. 31.) The COA did not reach the question of whether the Sony Defendants' statements could mislead a reasonable consumer.

Serova petitioned the COA for rehearing and argued that the COA misconstrued the third prong of *Kasky* reaching a holding that contradicted the established California law, which imposes strict liability for false advertising. The COA modified its decision with a footnote in which the COA reaffirmed its problematic reading of *Kasky* but did not change the holding or the disposition of the case.<sup>2</sup>

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  In the added footnote, the COA stressed its view that, under *Kasky*, "the *speaker's* knowledge about the content of the speech is the important feature" in answering the question whether the

Serova petitioned this Court for review on both anti-SLAPP prongs. This Court granted review ultimately remanding the case for reconsideration in light of *FilmOn*.

On remand, the COA attempted to rationalize its analysis under the first anti-SLAPP prong with references to *FilmOn*, but reached the same result, concluding the representations about the album to potential and actual buyers on the product packaging and in the video commercial constituted participation in an ongoing public debate about the authenticity of the Cascio recordings. (Slip Op. 18–27.) Because *FilmOn* concerned only the first anti-SLAPP prong, the COA republished its second-prong holding essentially without changes (Slip Op. 5), reiterating that misrepresentations to consumers are not actionable so long as the purveyor of the falsehoods did not have firsthand knowledge of the truth.

#### IV. <u>GROUNDS FOR REVIEW</u>

# A. The Court of Appeal failed to follow *Rand* and *FilmOn* under the first prong of the anti-SLAPP analysis.

Review on the first issue is required under Rule 8.500(b)(1) to reconcile the COA's published decision with this Court's recent precedents in *Rand Res., LLC v. City of Carson* (2019) 6 Cal.5th 610 (*Rand*) and *FilmOn*.

speech is commercial. Because the Sony Defendants were not involved in the creation of the Cascio recordings, from the Sony Defendants' perspective, "their Challenged Statements about the identity of the lead singer were therefore necessarily opinion." (Slip Op. 34–35 fn.12.)

First, both *Rand* and *FilmOn* unequivocally rejected the socalled "synecdoche theory" of public interest under which defendants attempt to "defin[e] their narrow dispute by its slight reference to a broader public issue." (*FilmOn, supra*, 7 Cal. 5th at 152 [citing *Commonwealth Energy Corp. v. Investor Data Exchange, Inc.* (2003) 110 Cal.App.4th 26, 34]; *Rand*, 6 Cal.5th at 625.) The COA's decision resurrects the "synecdoche theory" when it identifies the public issues in this case as (1) whether the singer on the Cascio recordings is in fact Jackson, and (2) the controversy surrounding the Cascio recordings, despite the fact that the challenged advertisements do not speak about either of these issues and relate to them only tangentially. (Slip Op. 19– 20.)

Second, the COA's decision gives short shrift to the context analysis required by *FilmOn*. The decision fails to analyze the purpose of the speech entirely, merely concluding that the factual misrepresentations were "not divorce[d]" from the debate. (Slip Op. 25). It then concludes that the "audience" of consumers demonstrates the advertisements contributed to the debate about the Cascio recordings without any evidence that more than a fraction of consumers even knew the debate existed (Slip Op. 25– 26). And it cites "speaker identity" as justifying the speech protection because, in the COA's opinion, a music seller enjoys the unfettered right to shape consumer's perception of music by misattributing it to whichever artist he pleases (Slip Op. 26–27, 38–39). This analysis undermines the teachings of *FilmOn*, eliminates the burden of production under the first anti-SLAPP

prong, which the statute places on the defendant (*City of Cotati v. Cashman* (2002) 29 Cal.4th 69, 76), and postulates that a scandal, consumers' interest in knowing the truth about what is advertised to them and the seller's freedom of expression collectively shield misrepresentations and fraud.

The COA paid lip service to *FilmOn* on remand but failed to follow its holdings or perform the careful record-supported analysis of context required by *FilmOn*. As a result, the decision essentially narrows *FilmOn* to its facts and promotes public policy protecting fraud and deceit. It demonstrates that further guidance is needed from this Court on how lower courts should approach the context analysis prescribed by *FilmOn*.

# 1. Circumventing *Rand* and *FilmOn*, the COA resurrected the misguided "synecdoche theory" of public interest.

In its recent decisions, this Court repeatedly rejected the "synecdoche theory" of public interest, whereby defendants try to "defin[e] their narrow dispute by its slight reference to the broader public issue." (*FilmOn, supra*, 7 Cal.5th at 152.) The Court explained that the focus under the first-prong anti-SLAPP inquiry must be on "the specific nature of the speech," rather than on any "generalities that might be abstracted from it." (*Ibid*. [citing *Commonwealth Energy Corp. v. Investor Data Exchange, Inc.* (2003) 110 Cal.App.4th 26, 34]; *see also Rand*, 6 Cal.5th at 625 ["At a sufficiently high level of generalization, any conduct can appear rationally related to a broader issue of public importance. What a court scrutinizing the nature of speech in the anti-SLAPP context must focus on is the speech at hand, rather than the prospects that such speech may conceivably have indirect consequences for an issue of public concern."].)

The COA's decision, while purporting to avoid the synecdoche theory of public interest, in fact endorses it repeatedly. The decision identifies one of the issues of public interest as "whether Michael Jackson was in fact the singer on the three Disputed Tracks" (Slip Op. 19) and proceeds to conclude that the challenged advertisements related to this issue "directly" because "[a]ccording to Serova's Complaint," they "identified Michael Jackson as the singer on the Disputed Tracks, which was the precise focus of the public controversy." (Slip Op. 23.)

This conclusion is the prime example of the synecdoche theory in application. The advertisements at issue—the album name "Michael," the images of Jackson on the cover, the statement on the back of the CD, and the video commercial represent that the lead vocals on all of the album's tracks were performed by Jackson. (Slip Op. 8.) These representations address what music can be heard by listening to the CD for sale to consumers, and they pertain to the album *as a whole*, not specifically to the three songs subject to controversy.

The COA equates a mundane question—what consumers will hear on a CD—with an issue of public importance—whether Jackson is the singer of the controversial songs, or, even more encompassing, Jackson's "body of work" (Slip Op. 25, 32), in spite of multiple authorities condemning such reasoning. (*Rand, supra*, 6 Cal. 5th at 624–25 [distinguishing between the subject of speech—who should represent the City in negotiations related to

the stadium construction—and the public issue of whether an NFL stadium should be built; holding "prospects that ... speech may conceivably have indirect consequences for an issue of public concern" are not enough to make the speech protected]; *FilmOn*, *supra*, 7 Cal. 5th at 152 [finding DoubleVerify's report too tenuously tethered to the issue of children's exposure to sexually explicit media content]; *All One God Faith, Inc. v. Organic & Sustainable Indus. Standards, Inc.* (2010) 183 Cal.App.4th 1186, 1203–1204 (*All One God Faith*), [holding that placement of the "OASIS Organic" seal on products did not "contribute to a broader debate on the meaning of the term 'organic"].)

The COA further endorses the synecdoche theory when it defines another relevant public issue as "[t]he controversy over the identity of the singer on the Disputed Tracks." (Slip Op. 20.) The album cover and the video commercial did not even mention the controversy, and the COA later admits as much. (Slip Op. 24 ["It is true that the statements on the Album Cover and the Promotional Video did not actually refer to the public debate about the identity of the singer."].) A supposed connection to the controversy is even more tenuous than the oblique connection to the issue of whether Jackson sang the songs; nothing in the statements even suggests to the consumer audience that a controversy exists.

Such circumvention of the rule clearly set out in *Rand* and *FilmOn* undermines the precedential force of these authorities. It opens the door for future courts to ignore the rule against the synecdoche theory whenever convenient and find *participation* 

merely because recipients of the speech *may*, upon hearing it, make conclusions relating to some public debate even where the speech itself neither mentions the debate nor addresses the topic of the debate.

# 2. The Court of failed to perform the careful analysis of context required under *FilmOn*.

On remand, the COA revised its first-prong analysis to consider the *context* of the speech, as required by *FilmOn*. (*FilmOn*, *supra*, 7 Cal.5th at 149.) However, the COA's careless approach to the analysis of context essentially limited *FilmOn*'s reach to cases involving private speech and conferred automatic anti-SLAPP protection to misrepresentation in the seller/potential-purchaser context.

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