Case No. S260736

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

Vera Serova,
Plaintiff and Respondent Below,

v.

Sony Music Entertainment; John Branca, as Co-Executor of the
Estate of Michael J. Jackson; and MJJ Productions, Inc.
Defendants and Appellants Below.

After A Decision By The Court Of Appeal,
Second Appellate District, Division 2
Case No. B280526

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

*ZIA F. MODABBER (SBN 137388)
ANDREW J. DEMKO (SBN 247320)
KATTEN MUCHIN ROSENMAN LLP
2029 Century Park East, Suite 2600
Los Angeles, California 90067
Telephone: (310) 788-4400 Facsimile: (310) 788-4471

HOWARD WEITZMAN (SBN 38723)
SUANN C. MACISAAC (SBN 205659)
KINSELLA WEITZMAN ISER KUMP & ALDISERT LLP

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

The UCL and the CLRA govern only commercial speech. (Pet. at p. 22.) The United States Supreme Court has defined “commercial speech” as speech that “does no more than propose a commercial transaction.” (*Bolger v. Youngs Drug Products Corp.* (1983) 463 U.S. 60, 66, internal quotations omitted (*Bolger*)). “If speech is not ‘purely commercial’—that is, if it does more than propose a commercial transaction—then it is entitled to full First Amendment protection.” (*Stewart v. Rolling Stone LLC* (2010) 181 Cal.App.4th 664, 685, quotation marks and citation omitted.)

The analysis of whether speech is commercial is guided by three factors: whether the speech (1) is a traditional advertisement; (2) references a product; and (3) was economically motivated. (*Bolger, supra*, 463 U.S. at pp. 66-67.) This Court subsequently described the three factors as “the speaker, the intended audience, and the content of the message.” (*Kasky, supra*, 27 Cal.4th at p. 960.)

Applying the three-factor test set forth in *Kasky*, the Court of Appeal found the third factor, the content of the speech, rendered the challenged statements non-commercial. This holding was based on multiple interrelated findings—namely, that the challenged statements were expressive (*i.e.*, did more than promote a transaction) because identifying the singer of the tracks comprised “an important component of understanding the art itself” (*id.* at p. 26); that Respondents did not have personal knowledge of the content of the message, and had no means of verifying it (*id.* at pp. 20-21); and that the challenged statements were opinions in the sense that they concerned a matter of irresolvable public controversy, and thus were not actionable factual assertions (*id.* at p. 23).

The Court of Appeal also held that to permit Serova’s claims against Respondents to proceed would violate the First Amendment because it would either chill speech (by disincentivizing the distribution of art if there were any scintilla of question as to its authorship) or impermissibly compel speech (by requiring purveyors of art to include a “disclaimer” about the

controversy despite concluding the tracks were authentic after performing an investigation). (*Id.* at pp. 24-25.)

Indeed, while Serova concludes that the challenged statements are “advertisements” (see, e.g., Pet. at pp. 4, 10, 28), they are not. Serova sued over ***part of the artistic work itself***—namely, the album’s title and cover artwork. Album covers are unquestionably expressive works, and when consumers purchase (or even stream) an album, they expect to also receive that expressive content. Similarly, even though the title is simple (“*Michael*”), it is expressive. (See *Tri-Star Pictures, Inc. v. Leisure Time Productions, B.V.* (S.D.N.Y. 1990) 749 F.Supp. 1243, 1252, *affd.* (2d Cir. 1994) 17 F.3d 38 [“Interpreting the Lanham Act broadly to protect movie titles invokes first amendment concerns because movie titles are a form of artistic expression.”]; *Stutzman v. Armstrong* (E.D. Cal. Sept. 10, 2013, No. 2:13-CV-00116-MCE) 2013 WL 4853333, at pp. 17–19 [“The speech at issue does more than merely propose a commercial transaction, because it describes the contents of the Books, the Books’ classification as a biography, and describes one of the Books’ authors . . . the promotional materials relating to the Books are inextricably intertwined with the Books’ contents, which is non-commercial speech”].)

While the title here also happens to connect the artist to the album, the title was an artistic choice to use the artist’s first name only, and in a particular font and manner, like an artist’s personal signature on the corner of a painting, or the title of his

or her self-portrait. Those choices represent expressive works in and of themselves.⁸

Serova claims the Court of Appeal misapplied *Kasky* because its three-part test “does not contain on its face a requirement that the speaker has personal knowledge of whether his speech is true.” (Pet. at p. 24.) But the opinion does not hold that commercial speech “requires” the speaker’s personal knowledge; it was only one of many factors it considered—just like *Kasky*. (See Op. at pp. 34-36.) And Serova completely ignores that *Kasky* expressly permitted courts to consider whether a factual statement was verifiable; it even emphasized the importance of personal knowledge to the commercial speech analysis in noting that the United States Supreme Court’s precedent on this issue “assumes that commercial speech consists of factual statements *and that those statements describe matters within the personal knowledge of the speaker.*” (*Kasky, supra*, 27 Cal.4th at p. 962, emphasis added.)

Serova also misrepresents the Court of Appeal’s discussion of this issue; the point is not just that Respondents lacked personal knowledge of the singer’s identity, but instead that there was no way for Respondents to conclusively verify it. In other words, the opinion relies not upon whether Respondents

⁸ Serova tries to bolster her point with an odd analogy to the U.S. Supreme Court’s decision in *Omnicare, Inc. v. Laborers Dist. Council Constr. Industry Pension Fund* (2015) 575 U.S. 175. *Omnicare* has nothing to do with the subject matter of this case; it generally addresses whether statements of opinion are actionable under the Securities Act of 1933. (*Id.* at pp. 188-195.)

verified the challenged statements (and they did so to the best of their ability) but whether the statements were conclusively *verifiable* by Respondents (and they were not). This analysis closely follows *Kasky*, which held verifiability to be a factor in determining whether speech is commercial. (*Id.* at p. 963 [holding Nike’s statements were commercial speech because “Nike was in a position to readily verify the truth of any factual assertions it made”]; *id.* at p. 962.) Other cases similarly include verifiability as a component of the analysis. (See, e.g., *Bernardo, supra*, 115 Cal.App.4th at p. 348 [holding an advertisement not commercial speech where it does not involve “readily verifiable factual assertions” but instead matters of “genuine . . . debate”]; *Keimer v. Buena Vista Books, Inc.* (1999) 75 Cal.App.4th 1220, 1224 [advertisements were commercial speech where defendant misrepresented the “verifiable fact” “that the investment club’s actual average rate of return from 1984 to 1994 was 9.1 percent as opposed to the advertised 23.4 percent”].)

Next, she claims the opinion impermissibly rewrites the UCL and CLRA to include a scienter component. (Pet. at pp. 28-29.) That is not even a colorable interpretation of what the Court of Appeal did. It is undisputed that if the UCL and CLRA apply, then there is no scienter requirement. It is also undisputed that the UCL and CLRA only apply to commercial speech. The Court of Appeal considered verifiability as a factor in the analysis of whether or not speech is commercial. If the speech at issue is commercial, then the UCL and CLRA could apply on a strict liability basis. If the speech at issue is not commercial, like here,

then the UCL and CLRA do not apply at all. In neither case does the opinion read or add a scienter requirement into the statutes.

Finally, she claims the opinion would nullify the “bona fide error” defense available under the CLRA. (Pet. at p. 29 [citing Civ. Code, § 1784].) This argument is waived because Serova failed to raise it below. (Cal. Rules of Court, Rule 8.500(c)(1) [“on petition for review the Supreme Court normally will not consider an issue that the petitioner failed to timely raise in the Court of Appeal”].)⁹ Moreover, it is a nonstarter because, again, it assumes the very question presented; the bona fide error defense is only relevant *if* the CLRA applies in the first instance, *i.e.*, if the challenged statements are commercial speech. The mere fact that a bona fide error defense exists does not mean the CLRA can or should apply to non-commercial speech like the statements challenged here.

In sum, review of the Court of Appeal’s decision at prong two of the anti-SLAPP analysis is not warranted.

B. The Court Of Appeal’s Holding Avoids Constitutional Infirmities.

Under Serova’s theory of the case, if Respondents distribute the Cascio Tracks, to avoid liability they must include a message to consumers that discloses the possibility that a singer other than Jackson sang the lead vocals on the Cascio Tracks—even

⁹ A footnote to the opinion mentions this provision of the CLRA in dicta. (Op. at pp. 35-36, fn. 13.) It noted that the defense only applies where the defendant “makes an appropriate correction, repair or replacement or other remedy of the goods and services[.]” (Civ. Code, § 1784.)

though Respondents believed Jackson did. Serova’s Petition ***completely ignores*** the Court of Appeal’s discussion of why recent U.S. Supreme Court precedent confirms that the ruling Serova seeks is unconstitutional. (Op. at pp. 36-37.) The Court of Appeal explained that the “United States Supreme Court recently emphasized the potentially problematic nature of regulations that compel speech, even in a commercial context.” (*Ibid.*, citing *Nat’l Inst. of Family & Life Advocates v. Becerra* (2018) ___ U.S. ___, 201 L.Ed.2d 835 (*Life Advocates*).) And a ruling “compelling disclosure of the controversy . . . to avoid liability . . . would, in effect, require Appellants to present views in their marketing materials with which they do not agree.” (Op. at p. 37) This would represent an “impermissible ‘content-based regulation of speech.’” (*Ibid.*, citing *Life Advocates*, 201 L.Ed.2d at p. 846.) Serova offers no response to or discussion of this aspect of the opinion.¹⁰

Indeed, Serova’s request that the Court impose some sort of disclosure requirement upon Respondents tramples upon Respondents’ core First Amendment right of expression. At oral argument in the trial court, Serova’s counsel and the court engaged in a disturbing exchange regarding how Respondents should have designed the Album Cover and related statements. (See, e.g., RT 633:2–3 [The Court: “Maybe Michael’ would have

¹⁰ Having failed to address it in her Petition, she may not raise the issue for the first time in response to this brief. (*Bell v. H.F. Cox, Inc.* (2012) 209 Cal.App.4th 62, 79, fn. 6 [“We generally disregard arguments raised for the first time in a reply brief.”].)

been a much better title.”]; RT 632:26–27 [Serova’s counsel suggesting the title: “Maybe It’s Michael, Maybe It’s Not, But It’s A Record And Here Have A Listen.”]; Op. at p. 36, fn. 14.) At appellate oral argument, Serova’s counsel reiterated that Respondents should avoid liability for distributing the songs only if they offered a disclaimer announcing to consumers that some people think¹¹ the lead vocals were sung by someone other than Jackson, even if Respondents think he did. These impermissible attempts to shape and disclaim expressive works underscore why the Court of Appeal got it right, and why no review is warranted. (See *Gertz v. Robert Welch, Inc.* (1974) 418 U.S. 323, 340 [“a rule of strict liability that compels a publisher or broadcaster to guarantee the accuracy of his factual assertions may lead to intolerable self-censorship”]; *Brodeur v. Atlas Entertainment, Inc.* (2016) 248 Cal.App.4th 665, 675 [“[t]he creative process must be unfettered, especially because it can often take strange turns . . . We must not permit juries to dissect the creative process in order to determine what was necessary to achieve the final product and what was not, and to impose liability . . . for that portion deemed unnecessary”], citation and internal quotation marks omitted.)

C. Review Is Unwarranted Because The Court Of Appeal’s Opinion Properly And Carefully Balances The Public Interests In Consumer Protection And Promoting Artistic Expression.

¹¹ How many was unclear. Is it enough that one person thinks it’s not Michael Jackson? Is fifty enough? Taken to its logical extreme, Serova’s position could result in disclaimers on almost all expressive work.

Obviously, this case required that either First Amendment expression must be subjugated to the public interest in consumer protection, or vice versa. The Court of Appeal's decision carefully treads the line between these two competing objectives, crafting a narrow ruling that protects Respondents' First Amendment rights while avoiding any significant impediment to the enforcement of consumer protection laws.

Meanwhile, Serova's Petition hyperbolically and incorrectly argues that the opinion "will resurrect 'buyer beware' in California and endanger the benefits to the health and welfare of Californians" by "provid[ing] blanket immunity to sales of forged art." (Pet. at pp. 34, 36.) This is baseless. Even in this very case, there is no "immunity" provided to any knowingly "false attribution," because Serova is pursuing her fraud claims against the Angelikson Defendants in the trial court.

Moreover, Serova's argument defies common sense and ignores market realities. She claims that as a result of the opinion, art purveyors will purposely avoid investigating the provenance of the work, so as to be able to escape liability under the CLRA or UCL. (Pet. at p. 35.) But the Court of Appeal's decision rested not on the fact that Respondents *failed to verify* the truth of the statements or even failed to try, but that they were *not verifiable*. Moreover, reputation matters in the art business; it would not be advantageous for an art dealer to sell a painting that ended up being a forgery. The market thus contains inherent protections against the harms Serova claims will result absent review.

Similarly, she claims with no factual basis whatsoever, let alone citation to the record, that “publishers do not ordinarily reveal who they license the rights to creative works from, and art auctions do not reveal the identities of owners,” and therefore plaintiffs will not be able to identify or sue the true fraudsters. (Pet. at p. 36.) In fact, the only evidence in the record on this point shows the concern is nonexistent, as Serova had no difficulty identifying the Angelikson Defendants here. Nor is there any reason to think it would be a problem in other cases that fall within the exceedingly narrow scope of the opinion (assuming any will), which applies only where there is a public controversy that already exists surrounding the work’s authorship. Where there is public controversy, alleged fraudsters are often flushed out by the media, governmental or voluntary investigations, or potentially pre-litigation discovery procedures. As such, Serova’s parade of horrors is both unsupported and unlikely.

D. The Court of Appeal’s Opinion Is Narrow And Limited To The Unusual Facts Presented.

Another reason review should be denied is that the opinion expressly limited its holding to the facts and issues implicated in this unusual case:

[T]here is no apparent reason why a statement falsely stating that a particular song is included in an album should be subject to full First Amendment protection simply because the statement promotes the sale of music. However, where, as here, a challenged statement in an advertisement relates to a public controversy about the identity of an artist

responsible for a particular work, and the advertiser has no personal knowledge of the artist's identity, it is appropriate to take account of the First Amendment significance of the work itself in assessing whether the content of the statement was purely commercial. This conclusion is consistent with the flexible approach that the United States Supreme Court has adopted for identifying commercial speech.

(Op. at pp. 40-41, footnote omitted; see also *id.* at p. 42 [“Nor do we purport to decide whether statements in another context concerning the marketing of creative works might constitute commercial speech.”].) It also made clear that nothing in the opinion applied to Serova's fraud claim against the Angelikson Defendants. (*Id.* at p. 42.) Thus, the opinion may have little precedential effect, and does not even prevent Serova from having her day in court in this very case.

In sum, the practical implications of the opinion are far less extreme and harmful than Serova claims. In fact, due to its expressly narrow holding and the unusual facts at issue here, the opinion may have limited precedential value. This forms another basis to deny review.

V. CONCLUSION.

Serova has failed to show a lack of uniformity of decision or an unsettled important legal principle. Respondents respectfully request that the Petition be denied.